
 

 

Company Registration No. 09642581 (England and Wales) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CIRRUS PRIMARY ACADEMY TRUST  

(A COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE) 

 

TRUSTEES' REPORT AND AUDITED ACCOUNTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018 



CIRRUS PRIMARY ACADEMY TRUST 
 
CONTENTS 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 Page 

 

Reference and administrative details 1  

 

Trustees' report 2 - 12 

 

Governance statement 13 - 15 

 

Statement on regularity, propriety and compliance 16 

 

Statement of Trustees' responsibilities 17 

 

Independent auditor's report on the accounts 18 - 20 

 

Independent reporting accountant's report on regularity 21 - 22 

 

Statement of financial activities 23 - 24 

 

Balance sheet 25 

 

Cash flow statement 26 

 

Notes to the accounts 27 - 53 



CIRRUS PRIMARY ACADEMY TRUST 
 
REFERENCE AND ADMINISTRATIVE DETAILS 
 
 
 

 
- 1 - 

MEMBERS Alexandra Gillespie 
 Duong Hong 
 Ian Lewis 
 Dorothy Middlemass (resigned 15 October 2018) 
 Rumu Sen-Gupta 
  
DIRECTORS (TRUSTEES) Alexander Clark  
 Carole Cook (appointed 1 October 2017) 
 Fiona Doyle (appointed 26 March 2018) 
 Duong Hong   
 Ian Lewis (Chair)  
 Colin Mackinlay (appointed 26 March 2018) 
 Jonathan Pritchard  
 
SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM Alexander Clark – CEO 
 Sharon Roberts – Deputy CEO (appointed 1 January 2018) 
 Daniel Smith – Director of Finance 
 
SENIOR LEADERSHIP TEAM 
Head Teacher Avenue Primary Academy    Lisa Hunt 
Head Teacher Barrow Hedges Primary School (joined 1/6/18) Louise Wood 
Head of School Kingsley Primary Academy   Ian McCrae 
Head of School Rushy Meadow Primary Academy (joined 1/9/17) Helen Bretherick  
Head of School Stanley Park Infants’ School (joined 1/1/18)  David D’Souza  
Head of School Wallington Primary Academy (joined 1/4/18) Nicola Wright  
  
 
Company registration number 09642581 (England and Wales) 
 
Principal and Registered office Avenue Primary Academy  
 Avenue Road  
 Sutton 
 SM2 6JE 
 
Independent auditor Baxter & Co 
 Lynwood House 
 Crofton Road 
 Orpington 
 Kent 
 BR6 8QE 
 
Bankers Lloyds Bank 
 49/53 High Street 
 Sutton 
 SM1 1DT 
 
Solicitors Veale Wasbrough Vizards  
 Narrow Quay House 
 Narrow Quay 
 Bristol  
 BS1 4QA 



CIRRUS PRIMARY ACADEMY TRUST 
 
TRUSTEES' REPORT 
 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018 
 
 

- 2 - 

The trustees present their annual report together with the financial statements and auditor’s report of the charitable 
company for the year ended 31 August 2018. The annual report serves the purposes of both a trustees’ report, and 
a directors’ report under company law. 
 
The accounts  have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 1 to the accounts and 
comply with the charitable company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association, the Companies Act 2006, the 
Statement of  Recommended Practice 2015, “Accounting and Reporting by Charities”, and the Academies’ 
Accounts Direction 2017/18 issued by the ESFA. 
 
The principal activity of the company is the operation of a state-funded Multi Academy Trust, providing a state 
education for students aged 3 to 11. The Trust had a total pupil roll of 3,626 (July 2018).  
 
Structure, governance and management 
 
Constitution 
 
The Academy Trust was incorporated on 16 June 2015 as a company limited by guarantee with no share capital 
(registration no. 09642581) and is an exempt charity. The charitable company's memorandum and articles of 
association are the primary governing documents of Cirrus Primary Academy Trust. On 01 September 2015, 
Avenue Primary Academy converted to academy status joining the Academy Trust.  On 01 February 2017, Kingsley 
Primary converted to academy status and joined the Trust as a sponsored academy. During the period of this report 
Barrow Hedges and Stanley Park Infants’ joined the Trust as converter academies, Rushy Meadow and Wallington 
joined the Trust as sponsored academies. 
 
The Trustees of Cirrus Primary Academy Trust are also the Directors of the charitable company for the purposes of 
company law. 
 
Details of the Trustees who served during the year are included in the Reference and Administrative Details section 
included at the front of these accounts. 
 
Members' liability 
 
Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the charitable company in the 
event of it being wound up while they are a member, or within one year after they cease to be a member, such 
amount as may be required, not exceeding £10, for the debts and liabilities contracted before they ceased to be a 
member. 
 
Trustees' indemnities  
  
No indemnities have been given to any third parties on behalf of any Trustees.  
 
Method of recruitment and appointment or election of Trustees 
 
In accordance with the articles, the Trustees of the charitable company are the Directors.  They are appointed as 
follows; 
 

a) up to 12 trustees appointed by the members; 
b) the chief executive officer if they so agree to act  
c) Co-opted trustees may also be appointed by the other trustees and members 

 
Policies and procedures adopted for the induction and training of Trustees 
 
The training and induction provided for new Trustees will depend on their existing experience.  Where necessary, 
induction will provide training on charity and educational legal and financial matters. All Trustees are provided with 
copies of policies, procedures, minutes, accounts, budgets, plans and other documents that they will need to 
undertake their role as Trustees. 
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Organisational structure 
 
The Board of Directors comprises those persons appointed under the Articles of Association. The Board meets at 
least four times a year and has sub-committees: 

• Admissions Committee (meets twice a year) 
• Finance Committee (meets four times a year) 
• HR Committee (meets three times a year) 

 
Avenue Primary Academy’s Local Governing Board met four times to consider detailed matters about the academy. 
 
Barrow Hedges Primary School’s Local Governing Board met twice since the academy opened to consider detailed 
matters about the academy. 
 
Kingsley Primary Academy’s Local Governing Board met four times to consider detailed matters about the 
academy. 
 
Rushy Meadow’s Local Governing Board met four times since the academy opened to consider detailed matters 
about the academy. 
 
Stanley Park Infants’ School Local Governing Board met twice since the academy opened to consider detailed 
matters about the academy. 
 
Wallington Primary Academy’s Local Governing Board met once since the academy opened to consider detailed 
matters about the academy. 
 
The Local Governing Boards are formally constituted with Terms of Reference and comprises appropriately 
qualified and experienced members.  
 
Directors delegate specific responsibilities to the Local Governing Boards, the activities of which are reported to and 
discussed at Board of Directors’ Meetings. 
 
Day to day leadership of the company is undertaken by the CEO and Senior Management Team. 
 
The CEO is the Accounting Officer and the Director of Finance is the Principal Finance Officer. 
 
Arrangements for setting pay and remuneration of key management personnel 
 
The senior management team (SMT) are the key management personnel of the trust.  Trustees are also senior 
management although they receive no pay or other remuneration in respect of their role as trustees.  Where staff 
trustees are in place, they receive remuneration for their role as staff and their pay is determined in the same way 
as applicable to all other staff. Further details of remuneration paid to staff who are trustees is set out within the 
notes to the accounts. 
 
The pay of the CEO is set annually by the CEO’s Pay Review Panel of the Trustees, having regards to performance 
against objectives set the previous year. Pay of other SMT and Senior Leadership Team members is also set by the 
Pay Review Panel again having regard to performance against previously agreed objectives and any 
recommendations made by the CEO. 
 
Trade Union Facility Time 
 
Relevant union officials  
 
Number of employees who were relevant union 
officials during the relevant period 

Full-time equivalent employee number 

1 1 
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Percentage of time spent on facility time  
 
Percentage of time Number of Employees 
0% 1 
1% - 50% 0 
51% - 99% 0 
100% 0 
 
Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time  
 
Total Cost of facility time £0 
Total Pay bill £11,685k 
Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time 0% 
 
Paid trade union activities  
 
Time spent on paid trade union activities as a 
percentage of total paid facility time hours. 
 

 

0% 

 
Related Parties and other Connected Charities and Organisations 
 
Cirrus Primary Academy Trust is comprised of: 
 

• Avenue Primary Academy 
• Barrow Hedges Primary School 
• Kingsley Primary Academy  
• Rushy Meadow Primary Academy 
• Stanley Park Infants’ School 
• Wallington Primary Academy 

 
Cirrus Primary Academy Trust aims to work in partnership with a range of bodies including Croydon and Sutton 
Local Authorities and Cognus (education services to Sutton schools). Avenue Primary Academy is a Teaching 
School and has a history of providing professional development and school support to other schools within Sutton 
and in other local authorities.  
 
Objectives and activities 
 
Objects and aims 
 
The objects of the company are the advancement of education in the UK and to promote for the benefits of the 
inhabitants of the local area, the provision of facilities for recreation.  It achieves these objects by operating its six 
academies, providing a state-funded primary education free of charge to its pupils and by making its facilities 
available to the local community.  
 
Objectives, strategies and activities 
 
The core purpose of the Trust is to develop the very best organisations to ensure that children do exceptionally well 
and are prepared for the future. Our community of six schools use each other as a resource to: 
 

§ Develop teaching 
§ Create opportunities for leadership and develop the best leaders 
§ Develop the curriculum 

 
The Trust provides a tiered level of service tailored to the needs of each school, recognising where each school is 
on its journey to outstanding and beyond. 
 
 



CIRRUS PRIMARY ACADEMY TRUST 
 
TRUSTEES' REPORT 
 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018 
 
 

- 5 - 

At the heart of the Trust is the Teaching School and the resources that it brings. The teaching school works with 
individual schools at the level required for each school, using the resources of both the teaching school and the 
other schools within the Trust.  
 
By using the teaching school’s experiences, expertise from outside the Trust and the many strengths within the 
academies, we will create a strong, self-improving organisation. 
 
Avenue Primary Academy 
 
Avenue Primary Academy’s mission statement is: 
 

At Avenue Primary Academy we recognise and develop the potential of each and every person, empowering 
them and giving them the confidence to play a positive role in society as responsible citizens. We aim high and 
believe we can succeed. We work as a team, in a supportive community where everyone is valued equally 
within a safe and engaging environment. 

 
The main priorities during the last year were to: 
 

• Introduce and monitor a new behaviour system that focuses on intrinsic motivation to support lifelong 
learners. 

• Ensure that there is a clear health and well-being agenda across the school including a focus on mental 
health. 

• Create a centre of excellence for ASD. 
• Recruit and retain the highest quality staff. 

 
 
Barrow Hedges Primary School (joined June 2018) 
 
Barrow Hedges’ mission statement is: 
 

At Barrow Hedges we believe that there is no limit to what our pupils can achieve. We nurture the potential 
talents of all our pupils. Through high achievement and a love of learning, our pupils leave us ready to make a 
valued contribution to society.  

 
The main priorities during the last year were: 
 

• To continue to accelerate progress for all pupils from their different starting points. 
o To provide consistently good or outstanding teaching, learning and assessment opportunities for all 

children. 
o To ensure that assessment procedures are refined and keep all stakeholders fully informed as to 

how children are progressing. 
• To ensure that standards of personal development, behaviour (both conduct and Behaviour for Learning) 

and welfare are deemed Outstanding. 
• To strengthen leadership across the school to raise the achievement for all pupils (including strengthening 

governance and succession planning). 
• To provide an outstanding learning environment. 

 
 
Kingsley Primary Academy 
 
Kingsley Primary Academy’s mission statement is: 
 

At Kingsley, respect for ourselves and others combined with integrity in all that we do, allows our community to 
feel safe to create, innovate and take responsibility for our actions. Together, we model teamwork, positivity 
and consistency. Through these, we nurture all to demonstrate compassion, empathy and tolerance. We are 
motivated by challenges, resilient to setbacks and, through never giving up, take pride in our accomplishments. 
Driven by ambition and equal opportunities for all, there are no limits to what we can achieve! 
  

Big dreams; hard work: successful futures 
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The Academy’s priorities during the year consolidated the 17 Ofsted priorities in the previous SDP into 6 distinct 
areas for development: 
 

• Broad and Balanced Curriculum: Embedding the writing strategy; developing Reading; accountability for 
foundation subjects; Maths Mastery. 

• The quality of Teaching, Learning and Assessment: Developing a love of Learning; Collaborative Learning; 
developing Learning Journeys to meet the needs of our Curriculum. 

• Developing Middle Leaders: Develop Middle Leader expectations; subject leaders' mechanisms for 
accountability; responsibility for inclusion to an SLT role. 

• Behaviour for Learning: Develop Nurture and ELSA Provision; develop Pupil Voice; embed the behaviour 
policy. 

• Keeping Pupils Safe: Implement on-line safeguarding training; TENDER programme; develop our multi-
agency culture; safer handling training for key staff. 

• The Effectiveness of Early Years Provision: Develop the 'Google' assessment system; prioritise outdoor 
learning; boys' writing; Maths Mastery; RWI phonics. 

 
 
Rushy Meadow Primary Academy 
 
Rushy Meadow Primary Academy’s mission statement is: 

 
Our mission at Rushy Meadow Primary Academy is to provide an environment where everyone feels part of a 
safe, secure, happy community.  Children’s curiosity and creativity is nurtured through an inspiring, broad and 
engaging curriculum.  Every day children are challenged and encouraged to be independent learners, to be 
resilient and aspirational, so that they all reach their full potential. 
 

The main priorities during the last year were to: 
 

• Improve the teaching and learning in all aspects of English and maths in order to accelerate progress and 
attainment in these subjects. 

• Improve assessment by ensuring self- evaluation, monitoring and tracking procedures are accurate. 
• Ensure that phase leaders, subject leaders and class teachers are fully supported in implementing the new 

curriculum. 
• Ensure the standard of teaching across the school is at least good. 
• Ensure that the provision and support for vulnerable and disadvantaged pupils and those who have special 

educational needs is effective. 
 
 
Stanley Park Infants’ School (joined January 2018) 
 
Stanley Park Infants’ School’s vision statement is: 
 

We are a forward thinking, innovative school community that embraces and acknowledges education as a right 
and a privilege. 
We have high expectations and strive to ensure that all children reach their full potential.  
We aim to create an environment in which everyone feels happy and is actively involved in all areas of their 
learning.  
We aim to encourage everyone to develop a growth mind-set by taking risks, asking questions, rising to 
challenges, being resilient and never giving up.  

 
The main priorities during the last year were to: 
 

• Improve the teaching and learning of SEN/PPG pupils in RWM. 
• Close the attainment gap for current Y1 boys in maths and RWM combined, both being higher gaps than 

current national. 
• Close the attainment gap for current Y1 disadvantaged pupils in RWM and ensure that they attain at or 

above national averages in line with their peers. 
• Maintain the proportion of pupils meeting the pass grade for phonics screening, with a continued focus on 

PPG and SEND pupils. 
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• Maintain progress rates for all pupils in reading, writing and number with a priority whole school focus on 
PPG pupils in reading and writing. 

• Ensure governance demonstrates strategic direction and the capacity to improve the school. 
• Develop leadership capacity across the school for aspiring middle and senior leaders. 
• Maintain high quality teaching profile, utilising the strengths and skills of all staff to lead and develop others. 
• Open a high quality Nursery provision for 3 year olds, ensuring consistency of structures and procedures 

including safeguarding. 
• Promote good attendance (Attendance increases to over 96%, no pupils are persistently absent). 
• Further develop our classroom culture (Rights Respecting Curriculum and Super Learners). 
• Embed the use of Tapestry in the EYFS as a tool for tracking, recording and monitoring progress against 

Development Matters outcomes. 
 
 
Wallington Primary Academy (joined April 2018) 
 
Wallington Primary Academy’s mission statement is: 
 

At Wallington Primary Academy we are a community of learners who are passionate about raising 
expectations, aspirations and standards within a nurturing, supportive, safe and engaging environment. We 
aim high and seek to have a real impact on children's lives by enabling them to understand the importance of 
character, citizenship, collaboration, communication, creativity and critical thinking. We are committed to 
ensuring that our children leave us as confident, happy, respectful and resilient individuals, who take 
ownership of their learning, are proud of their achievements and are motivated to make a positive difference in 
the world! 

 
The main priorities during the last year were to: 
 

• Improve the quality of teaching so that more is expected from all pupils. 
• Improve the quality of teaching so that the needs of different groups of children are met. 
• Improve the quality of teaching so that pupils are given more challenging tasks, particularly for the most 

able. 
• Improve the quality of teaching so that pupils are inspired to want to read for pleasure, and basic reading 

skills are taught more effectively. 
• Tackle the underperformance of disadvantaged pupils and children with vigour by ensuring that these 

pupils, including the most able among them, make progress in reading in line with other pupils nationally. 
• Improve pupils’ behaviour by ensuring that pupils attend school regularly and persistent absence is reduced. 
• Improve pupils’ behaviour by ensuring that pupils respect each other and appreciate the negative impact 

name calling can have on pupils’ confidence and self-esteem. 
• Improve the quality of leadership so that leaders at all levels sharply identify weak areas of the school’s 

work and tackle these with energy and rigour. 
• Improve the quality of leadership so that leaders at all levels tell parents all they need to know about the 

school. 
• Improve governance so that governors hold leaders more closely to account. 
• Improve governance so that governors raise their expectations of how well pupils can learn. 
• An external review of the school’s use of the pupil premium should be undertaken in order to assess how 

this aspect of leadership and management may be improved. 
 
 
Public benefit 
 
In setting the objectives and planning the associated activities, the Trustees confirm they have given careful 
consideration to the Charity Commission’s general guidance on public benefit. 
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Strategic Report 
 
Achievements and Performance  
 
Academy Joined Ofsted (current) Ofsted (pre-joining) 
Avenue Primary Academy,  
Avenue Road, Sutton SM2 6JE 

2015 ® Outstanding (2012) 

Barrow Hedges Primary School,  
Harbury Road, Carshalton SM5 4LA 

2018 ® Good (2015) 

Kingsley Primary Academy,  
Thomson Crescent, Croydon CR0 3JT  

2017 ® Inadequate (2016) 

Rushy Meadow Primary Academy,  
Rushy Meadow Lane, Carshalton SM5 2SG 

2017 ® Inadequate (2017) 

Stanley Park Infants’ School,  
Stanley Park Road, Carshalton SM5 3JL 

2018 ® Outstanding (2008) 

Wallington Primary Academy,  
Mollison Drive, Wallington SM6 9JN 

2018 ® Inadequate (2017) 

 
Avenue Primary Academy 
 
In 2018 75% of pupils in EYFS achieved a ‘good level of development’, a decline of 4% from the previous year, but 
pupils had a lower baseline than in 2017 and demonstrated good progress from their starting points. In Year 1, 88% 
of pupils met the requirements of the phonics check, an increase of 5% from the previous year. At the End of Key 
Stage One, 88% met the expected standard in reading, 88% in writing, and 88% in mathematics, an increase from 
the previous year. Children achieving greater depth also increased or stayed the same in all areas. (All figures in 
EYFS and KS1 include children in the ASD Base). 
 
At the End of Key Stage Two, attainment was 88% reading (expected standard), 93% GPS, 91% mathematics, 93% 
writing, and 82% combined, an increase in all areas from the previous year. Those achieving a high score was 41% 
reading, 65% GPS, 49% mathematics and 33% writing. All increasing from 2017, apart from a 4% decline in 
reading, and all above the national averages. 
 
Barrow Hedges Primary School 
 
In 2018, 86% of pupils in EYFS achieved a ‘good level of development’, an increase of 8% from the previous year. 
In Y1, 89% of pupils met the requirements of the phonics check. At End of Key Stage One, 83% met the expected 
standard in reading, 80% in writing, and 86% in mathematics. These results are broadly in line with the previous 
year. The proportions of children achieving greater depth were 34% for reading, 29% for writing and 37% for maths 
(with writing and maths increasing from 2017). 
 
At End of Key Stage Two, attainment was 83% reading (expected standard), 85% GPS, 83% mathematics, 83% 
writing and 75% combined. The combined score was a 4% increase from 2017. Those achieving greater depth 
standard was 43% reading, 61% GPS, 44% writing and 36% mathematics with 25% for the combined high score.  
 
Kingsley Primary Academy  
 
In 2018, 72% of pupils in EYFS achieved a ‘good level of development’, an increase from 57% from the previous 
year and an improvement of 15%. Our 2018 GLD result also indicates that we met the national expectation of 2017. 
In Year 1, 71% of pupils met the requirements of the phonics check – no improvement from the previous year. 
However, collectively, by the end of Y2, 93% of children had passed the phonics check in 2018 – exceeding 
national expectation of 92%. At the end of Key Stage One, 67% met the expected standard in reading, 71% in 
writing, and 71% in mathematics, an increase from the previous year  in all areas. Children achieving greater depth 
increased to 12% in writing from 0% in 2017, 23 % in maths (9% 2017) and 17% in reading – a marginal drop of 3% 
from 2017. 
  
At the end of Key Stage Two, attainment was below the expected standard in all areas. 53% of children attained the 
expected standard in reading, 57% GPS, 55% mathematics and 67% writing. Overall, 44% attained the combined 
RWM.  The percentage of children achieving a high score was as follows: 14% reading, 14% GPS, 13% 
mathematics and 6% writing. This was also significantly lower than in 2017. 
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Rushy Meadow Primary Academy 
 
In 2018 71% of pupils in EYFS achieved a ‘good level of development’. In Y1, 74% of pupils met the requirements 
of the phonics check. At End of Key Stage One, 72% met the expected standard in reading, 73% in writing, and 
78% in mathematics. 
 
At End of Key Stage Two, attainment was 62% reading (expected standard), 66% GPS, 64% mathematics, 71% 
writing, and 51% combined. Those achieving a high score was 13% reading, 30% GPS, 13% mathematics and 17% 
writing. 
  
Overall there has been an improvement in GLD which is in line with National, Writing and mathematics attainment in 
KS1 has improved since 2017 and they are both above National. Children achieving greater depth in KS1 also 
increased in all areas and were above National.  Mathematics attainment has improved in KS2, however all areas in 
KS2 are below National. 
 
Stanley Park Infants’ School 
 
In 2018, 79% of pupils in EYFS achieved a ‘good level of development’, an increase of 2% from the previous year. 
In Y1, 93% of pupils met the requirements of the phonics check, a 1% decrease from the previous year. At End of 
Key Stage One, 92% met the expected standard in reading, 90% in writing, and 94% in mathematics, an increase 
from the previous year. The proportions of children achieving greater depth were 45% for reading, 35% for writing 
and 41% for maths (with writing and maths increasing from 2017). 
 
Wallington Primary Academy 
 
In 2018 61% of pupils in EYFS achieved a ‘good level of development’. In Y1, 80% of pupils met the requirements 
of the phonics check (non-base) 75% incl. base. At End of Key Stage One, 66% met the expected standard in 
reading, 60% in writing, and 74% in mathematics. 
At End of Key Stage Two, attainment was 64% reading (expected standard), 75% GPS, 64% mathematics, 61% 
writing, and 54% combined. Those achieving a high score was 21% reading, 32% GPS, 18% mathematics and 0% 
writing. 
  
Overall there has been an improvement in GLD of 12% on 2017 results. Reading, writing and mathematics 
attainment in KS1 has improved since 2017, with mathematics almost in-line with National. Children achieving 
greater depth in KS1 also increased in all areas and is now closer to the National picture.  Reading and 
mathematics attainment has improved in KS2, however writing is lower than the outcomes for 2017. All areas in 
KS2 are below National. 
The combined score for KS2 was 4% above 2017 results, although still below national. 
 
 
Key Performance Indicators 
 
Trustees use the following Key Performance Indicators to assess the success of the activities of the Trust: 
 
Effectiveness of leadership and management 

• Impact of leadership and management on standards of attainment and the quality of teaching; 
• Staff development and performance management; 
• Ofsted inspection reports; 
• Academy or Trust commissioned reviews; 
• Academy self-evaluation; 
• Recognised awards; 
• Impact of support on external partners; 
• Demand for pupil places. 

 
Quality of teaching, learning and assessment 

• Analysis of the quality of teaching; 
• Tracking of pupil progress; 
• Monitoring of marking and presentation. 
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Personal development, behaviour and welfare 

• Behaviour records, including incidents of bullying and racial harassment; 
• Exclusion data; 
• Attendance rates, including persistent absence; 
• Child protection and safeguarding audits; 
• Pupil, parents and staff surveys. 

 
Outcomes for pupils 

• Comparative End of Key Stage data; 
• Progress data, including rates of progress for individuals and groups, including pupils eligible for the pupil 

premium. 
 
Finance 

• Comparable financial indicators against similar academies (and within the Trust when applicable); 
• Monitoring of income and expenditure against budget. 

 
Going concern 
  
After making appropriate enquiries, the board of Trustees has a reasonable expectation that the academy trust has 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason it continues to 
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 
 
Financial review 
 
We receive our income from a number of different sources.  The majority of our income comes from central 
government via the Education and Skills Funding Agency who provide us with grant, based largely on our student 
numbers to cover our staffing and other general running costs (General Annual Grant - GAG).  The ESFA may 
provide us with additional grants which are earmarked for specific purposes (such as Pupil Premium which must be 
used to raise the attainment of disadvantaged pupils).  These appear in the accounts as DfE/ESFA grants.  Where 
we receive grant or other funding from the Local Authority (such as where we undertake responsibilities on their 
behalf in respect of our students) this appears in the accounts as Other government grants.  Such income is 
collectively referred to as “Restricted Funds”.  Other income is received from parents (for example as contributions 
to trip or other costs) and from third parties (for example from our bank for interest on our account balances or from 
others who are charged for their use of our facilities).  Such other income may be restricted or unrestricted, 
depending on whether it comes to us with conditions as to its use or whether it is available for spending at the 
discretion of the trustees. 
 
We hold funds in two broad categories, funds which are available for spending and other funds which are not 
available for spending. 
 
Spendable funds are in turn sub-categorised between those which are available for spending at the discretion of 
trustees (“Unrestricted Funds”) and those which are subject to condition or restriction, (“Restricted Funds”). 
 
Funds not available for spending include the book value of fixed assets such as land, buildings and equipment.  
These have a value and are therefore included as assets in the accounts but clearly, we cannot spend this value.  
In common with all academies and Local Authorities, our share of the Local Government Pension Scheme deficit 
must also be reflected in our accounts and as this is not a conventional liability, it does not need to be deducted 
from spendable funds.  We meet our obligations in respect of the LGPS by paying over pension contributions due 
as calculated by the scheme’s actuaries.  
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The following balances held were held at 31 August; 
 
Fund  Category 2018  2017  
  £’000  £’000  
     
GAG Restricted General Funds (72)  587 
Other DfE/ESFA Grants Restricted General Funds -  - 
Other Government Grants Restricted General Funds -  - 
Other Income Restricted General Funds - 

_____ 
 - 

_____ 
     
Sub-total General Restricted Funds  (72)  587 
     
Unspent Capital Grants Restricted Fixed Asset Fund 278  - 
Other Income Unrestricted General Fund 693 

_____ 
 427 

_____ 
     
Sub-Total Spendable Funds  899  1,014 
     
Net Book Value of Fixed Assets Restricted Fixed Asset Fund 68,780  30,941 
Share of LGPS Deficit Restricted Pension Reserve (9,374)  (4,832) 
  ______  ______ 
     
Total All Funds  60,305  27,123 

  =====  ===== 
 

During the year under review, there was a deficit of £550k on general restricted funds, a surplus of £301k on 
unrestricted funds and after LGPS valuation adjustments, depreciation and capital income and expenditure, an 
overall surplus of £32,168k.  
 
Reserves policy 
 
The principal policy on reserves is that accumulation of unspent GAG balances should not breach any limits thereon 
set out in the Funding agreement.  The level of reserves should never be in deficit. 
 
Each year the Trustees review the resource requirements and grant and other income that is forecast for the 
coming year and an annual budget is formulated and approved. 
 
Investment policy 
 
There are no investments held beyond cash deposits retained with the major UK clearing banks.  Speculative 
investments are not permitted. 
 
Principal risks and uncertainties 
 
The Trustees have assessed the major risks to which the company is exposed, in particular those relating to 
academic performance/finances/child welfare. The Trustees have implemented a number of systems to assess risks 
that the company faces, and have developed policies and procedures to mitigate those risks.  Where significant 
financial risk still remains they have ensured they have adequate insurance cover. The company has an effective 
system of internal financial controls and this is explained in more detail in the Governance Statement. 
 
The principal financial risk faced by the company is that ongoing pressure on funding results in a risk that deficits 
may be experienced.  The budgeting and reporting process, including scrutiny by the Trustees of actual financial 
performance, mitigates the risk. 
 
As the nature of the financial instruments dealt with by the company is relatively simple (bank balances, debtors and 
"trade" creditors), Trustees consider the associated risk in this area to be minimal. 
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The risk resulting from the company’s share of the LGPS deficit is managed by following the advice of the scheme’s 
actuaries, specifically as regards the level of contributions payable, ensuring that annual budgets are drawn up to 
reflect the actuary’s advice. 
Most of the Academy Trust’s income is obtained from the ESFA in the form of recurrent grants, the use of which is 
restricted to particular purposes.  The grants received from the ESFA during the year ended 31 August 2018 and 
the associated expenditure are shown as restricted funds in the statement of financial activities. 
 
Our fundraising practices  
 
The trust and individual academies within it organise fundraising events and appeals and co-ordinate the activities 
of our supporters both in the academies and in the wider community on behalf of the trust. 
 
The trust does not use professional fundraisers or involve commercial participators.  
 
There have been no complaints about fundraising activity this year.  
 
The trust complies with the Fundraising Regulator’s Code of Fundraising Practice. 
 
All fundraising is undertaken by the trust in a manner that seeks to ensure that it is not unreasonably intrusive or 
persistent. Contact is made through email, academy newsletters, our websites and via students. All fundraising 
material contains clear instructions on how a person can be removed from mailing lists.  
 
Plans for future periods 
 
The Trust plans for the future period include, specifically, to: 
 
A further Good or Outstanding school to join the Trust during the 2018/19 academic year to build further capacity 
within the Trust. Over the coming years we intend to grow the Trust to twelve schools, within the two existing hubs. 
 
 
Funds held as custodian trustee on behalf of others 
 
The academy trust is not acting as custodian for any other external body. 
 
 
Auditor 
 
In so far as the Trustees are aware: 
 

• there is no relevant audit information of which the charitable company's auditor is unaware; and 
• the Trustees have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant 

audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information. 
 
The trustees' report, incorporating a strategic report, was approved by order of the Board of Trustees, as the 
company directors, on 12 December 2018 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
Ian Lewis  
Chair of Trustees
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Scope of responsibility 
 
As Trustees we acknowledge we have overall responsibility for ensuring that Cirrus Primary Academy Trust has an 
effective and appropriate system of control, financial and otherwise. However, such a system is designed to 
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only reasonable 
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. 
 
The Board of Trustees has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the CEO, Mr A Clark, as Accounting Officer, 
for ensuring financial controls conform with the requirements of both propriety and good financial management and 
in accordance with the requirements and responsibilities assigned to it in the funding agreement between Cirrus 
Primary Academy Trust and the Secretary of State for Education. The Accounting Officer is also responsible for 
reporting to the Board of Trustees any material weaknesses or breakdowns in internal control. 
 
Governance 
  
The information on governance included here supplements that described in the Trustees' Report and in the 
Statement of Trustees' Responsibilities. The Board of Trustees has formally met four times during the year. 
Attendance during the year at meetings of the Board of Trustees was as follows: 
 
Directors  Meetings attended Out of possible 
 
Alexander Clark    4   4 
Duong Hong    4   4 
Ian Lewis (Chair)    3   4 
Jonathan Pritchard    4   4 
Carole Cook      3   4 
Colin Mackinlay      2   2 
Fiona Doyle      1   2 
 
 
Governance reviews:  
 
Each Local Governing Board consists of: 
 
Head Teacher/Head of School Ex-Officio 
Two staff governors  One elected, one co-opted 
Two parent governors  Elected 
Four co-opted governors  Co-opted 
 
Training is provided on a regular basis; a new training strategy is due to be rolled out in 2018-19. 
 
The Trust have introduced one new committee, Governance, for 2018-19 which the Chair of each LGB will attend 
along with trustees.  The Governance Committee will meet three times a year 
 
Trustee attendance at the three committees were as follows: 
 
Trustee Finance HR Admissions 
Alexander Clark 2/2 4/4 2/2 
Jonathan Pritchard 2/2 4/4 2/2 
Ian Lewis 2/4 1/2  
Duong Hong 4/4   
Carole Cook 4/4 2/2  
Colin Mackinlay  1/1  
Fiona Doyle  1/1  
 
In addition, the HR Committee operates a Pay Review Function to receive, review and make decisions on the 
remuneration of staff working across the Trust, with the exception of the CEO. The remuneration of the CEO is 
considered by the Board of Trustees. 
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Review of Value for Money  
 
As accounting officer the CEO has responsibility for ensuring that the academy trust delivers good value in the use 
of public resources. The accounting officer understands that value for money refers to the educational and wider 
societal outcomes achieved in return for the taxpayer resources received.  
 
The accounting officer considers how the trust’s use of its resources has provided good value for money during 
each academic year, and reports to the board of trustees where value for money can be improved, including the use 
of benchmarking data where available.  
 
The accounting officer for the academy trust has delivered improved value for money during the year by reviewing 
back-office functions and making savings in educational supplies and other operational functions. These have 
resulted in either direct or indirect savings, both in terms of financial and efficiency. 
 
The purpose of the system of internal control 
 
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of 
failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives. It can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise 
the risks to the achievement of Academy Trust policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks 
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 
The system of internal control has been in place in Cirrus Primary Academy Trust for the period 1 September 2017 
to 31 August 2018 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements. 
 
Capacity to handle risk 
  
The Board of Trustees has reviewed the key risks to which the Academy Trust is exposed together with the 
operating, financial and compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. The Board of 
Trustees is of the view that there is a formal ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the Academy 
Trust's significant risks that has been in place for the period 1 September 2017 to 31 August 2018 and up to the 
date of approval of the annual report and accounts. This process is regularly reviewed by the Board. 
 
The risk and control framework 
  
The Academy Trust's system of internal financial control is based on a framework of regular management 
information and administrative procedures including the segregation of duties and a system of delegation and 
accountability. In particular it includes: 
 

• comprehensive budgeting and monitoring systems with an annual budget and periodic financial reports 
which are reviewed and agreed by the Board of Trustees; 

• regular reviews by the finance and premises committee of reports which indicate financial performance 
against the forecasts and of major purchase plans, capital works and expenditure programmes; 

• setting targets to measure financial and other performance; 
• clearly defined purchasing (asset purchase or capital investment) guidelines; 
• delegation of authority and segregation of duties; 
• Identification and management of risks. 

 
The Board of Trustees have considered the need for a specific internal audit function and has appointed Baxter & 
Co., the external auditor, to conduct a programme of additional checks on internal controls. 
 
The role includes giving advice on financial matters and performing a range of checks on the trusts’ financial 
systems of control.  Visits were conducted termly. 
 
 
Checks carried out included:        
                                                                                       

• testing of purchasing and payments 
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• testing of payroll systems 
• testing of the operation of key accounting reconciliations and routines 
• testing of compliance with some of the key requirements set out in the Academies Financial Handbook 

 
There were no issues of material risk identified. All matters raised are being addressed.  Trustees are satisfied that 
the role has been delivered effectively. 
 
Review of effectiveness 
  
As accounting officer the CEO has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control. 
During the year in question the review has been informed by: 

 
• the work of the external auditor; 
• the financial management and governance self-assessment process; 
• the work of the executive managers within the Academy Trust who have responsibility for the development 

and maintenance of the internal control framework. 
 
The Accounting Officer has been advised on the implications of the result of the review of the system of internal 
control by the Finance Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the 
system is in place. 
 
Approved by order of the members of the Board of Directors on 12 December 2018 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I Lewis  A Clark  
Chair of Trustees  Accounting Officer 
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As accounting officer of Cirrus Primary Academy Trust I have considered my responsibility to notify the Academy 
Trust Board of Trustees and the Education & Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) of material irregularity, impropriety and 
non-compliance with terms and conditions of all funding received by the academy trust, under the funding 
agreement in place between the Academy Trust and the Secretary of State for Education.  As part of my 
consideration I have had due regard to the requirements of the Academies Financial Handbook 2017. 
  
I confirm that I and the Academy Trust's Board of Trustees are able to identify any material irregular or improper 
use of funds by the Academy Trust, or material non-compliance with the terms and conditions of funding under the 
Academy Trust's funding agreement and the Academies Financial Handbook 2017. 
  
I confirm that no instances of material irregularity, impropriety or funding non-compliance have been discovered to 
date.  If any instances are identified after the date of this statement, these will be notified to the Board of Trustees 
and ESFA. 
  

A Clark 
Accounting Officer 
 
12 December 2018 
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The trustees (who are also the directors of Cirrus Primary Academy Trust for the purposes of company law) are 
responsible for preparing the Trustees' report and the Financial Statements in accordance with the Annual 
Accounts Direction issued by the Education & Skills Funding Agency, United Kingdom Accounting Standards 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and applicable law and regulations. 
  
Company law requires the Trustees to prepare Financial Statements for each financial year. Under company law 
the Trustees must not approve the Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the charitable company and of its incoming resources and application of resources, 
including its income and expenditure, for that period. 
 
In preparing these Financial Statements, the Trustees are required to: 
 
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
• observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP 2015 and the Academies Accounts Direction 

2017 to 2018; 
• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 

disclosed and explained in the Financial Statements; and 
• prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

charitable company will continue in business. 
 
The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
charitable company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
charitable company and enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements comply with the Companies Act 
2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
  
The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that in its conduct and operation the charitable company applies financial 
and other controls, which conform with the requirements both of propriety and of good financial management. They 
are also responsible for ensuring that grants received from ESFA/DfE have been applied for the purposes intended. 
 
 The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included 
on the charitable company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of Financial Statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
  
Approved by order of the members of the Board of Trustees on 12 December 2018 and signed on its behalf by: 
  

I Lewis  
Chair of Trustees 
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Opinion 
 We have audited the Financial Statements of Cirrus Primary Academy Trust for the year ended 31 August 2018 
which comprise the statement of financial activities, the balance sheet, the statement of cash flows and the notes to 
the Financial Statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including 
Financial Reporting Standard 102 'The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland' 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), the Charities SORP 2015 and the Academies Accounts 
Direction 2017 to 2018 issued by the Education & Skills Funding Agency. 
  
In our opinion the Financial Statements: 
 - give a true and fair view of the state of the charitable company's affairs as at 31 August 2018 and of its 

incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure, for the year then 
ended; 
 - have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; 
 - have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and 
 - have been prepared in accordance with the Charities SORP 2015 and the Academies Accounts Direction 
2017 to 2018. 
  

Basis for opinion 
 We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of 
the Financial Statements' section of our report. We are independent of the Academy Trust in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Statements in the UK, including the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
 Fundamental uncertainty : going concern 
 Attention is drawn to the disclosure within note 26 regarding the trust's status as a going concern.  These 
disclosures indicate that a material uncertainty exists which may cast significant doubt on the academy's ability to 
continue as a going concern.  In forming our opinion above, which is not modified, we have considered the 
adequacy of those disclosures 
  
Conclusions relating to going concern 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report 
to you where: 
- the Trustees' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the Financial Statements is 

not appropriate; or 
 - the Trustees have not disclosed in the Financial Statements any identified material uncertainties that may 
cast significant doubt about the Academy Trust’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the Financial Statements are authorised 
for issue. 
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Other information 
 The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the Financial Statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon. The Trustees are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the 
Financial Statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in 
our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the Financial Statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the Financial Statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
  
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 
 - the information given in the Trustees' report including the incorporated strategic report for the financial year 

for which the Financial Statements are prepared is consistent with the Financial Statements; and 
 - the Trustees' report including the incorporated strategic report have been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements. 
  

Matters on which we are required to report by exception  
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Academy Trust and its environment obtained in the course of 
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Trustees' report, including the incorporated strategic 
report. 
  
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires 
us to report to you if, in our opinion: 
  - adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 

from branches not visited by us; or 
 - the Financial Statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 
 - certain disclosures of Trustees' remuneration specified by law are not made; or 
 - we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 
Responsibilities of Trustees 
As explained more fully in the statement of Trustees' responsibilities, the Trustees are responsible for the 
preparation of the Financial Statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of Financial Statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the Financial Statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Academy Trust’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the charitable company, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Financial Statements. 
  
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our 
auditor's report. 
  
Use of our report 
 This report is made solely to the charitable company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 
16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the charitable 
company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
charitable company and the charitable company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 
  

for and on behalf of Baxter & Co ......................... 
 
Chartered Certified Accountants 
Statutory Auditor Lynwood House 
 Crofton Road 
 Orpington 
 Kent 
 BR6 8QE 
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In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 17 September 2015 and further to the requirements of 
the Education & Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) as included in the Academies Accounts Direction 2017 to 2018, we 
have carried out an engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether the expenditure disbursed and income 
received by Cirrus Primary Academy Trust during the period 1 September 2017 to 31 August 2018 have been 
applied to the purposes identified by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which 
govern them. 
 
This report is made solely to Cirrus Primary Academy Trust and ESFA in accordance with the terms of our 
engagement letter. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Cirrus Primary Academy Trust and 
ESFA those matters we are required to state in a report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than Cirrus Primary Academy Trust and ESFA, for 
our work, for this report, or for the conclusion we have formed. 
  Respective responsibilities of Cirrus Primary Academy Trust's accounting officer and the reporting 
accountant 
The Accounting Officer is responsible, under the requirements of Cirrus Primary Academy Trust’s funding 
agreement with the Secretary of State for Education dated 28 August 2015 and the Academies Financial 
Handbook, extant from 1 September 2017, for ensuring that expenditure disbursed and income received is applied 
for the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern 
them. 
  Our responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession’s ethical 
guidance, and are to obtain limited assurance and report in accordance with our engagement letter and the 
requirements of the Academies Accounts Direction 2017 to 2018. We report to you whether anything has come to 
our attention in carrying out our work which suggests that in all material respects, expenditure disbursed and 
income received during the period 1 September 2017 to 31 August 2018 have not been applied to purposes 
intended by Parliament or that the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern them. 
  Approach 
We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Academies Accounts Direction 2017 to 2018 issued by 
ESFA. We performed a limited assurance engagement as defined in our engagement letter. 
  The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information and 
explanations in order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative conclusion on 
regularity. 
  A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement and 
consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that 
might be identified in a reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a positive opinion. 
  Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity and propriety of the 
Academy Trust's income and expenditure. 
  The work undertaken to draw to our conclusion includes: 
 
• Review of payments to staff; 
• Review of payments to suppliers and other third parties; 
• Review of grant and other income streams; 
• Review of some key financial control procedures; 
• Discussions with finance staff; 
• Consideration of the record maintained by the Accounting Officer of the oversight they have exercised; 
• Consideration of the programme of risk review and checking of financial controls implemented by the trust 

in order to comply with its obligations under 2.4.9 of the Academies Financial Handbook 2017, issued by 
the ESFA. 
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Conclusion 
In the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggests that in all material respects the 
expenditure disbursed and income received during the period 1 September 2017 to 31 August 2018 has not been 
applied to purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which 
govern them. 
  

Reporting Accountant 
Baxter & Co 
Lynwood House 
Crofton Road 
Orpington 
Kent 
BR6 8QE 
 
Dated: ......................... 
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 Unrestricted Restricted funds: Total Total  
 Funds General Fixed asset 2018 2017  
 Notes £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  
Income and endowments from:  
Donations and capital grants 3 22 - 843 865 73  
Donations - transfer from local 
authority on conversion 25 259 

 
(4,848) 38,241 33,652 13,787 

 

Charitable activities:  
- Funding for educational operations 4 231 14,541 - 14,772 8,004  
- Funding for teaching school 27 - 40 - 40 40  
Other trading activities 5 44 - - 44 15  
             Total  556 9,733 39,084 49,373 21,919  
 
            Expenditure on:  
Charitable activities:  
- Educational operations 8 255 15,799 1,111 17,165 8,307  
- Teaching School 27 - 40 - 40 40  
             Total 6 255 15,839 1,111 17,205 8,347  
 
            
Net income/(expenditure)  301  (6,106) 37,973 32,168 13,572  
 
Transfers between funds 17  (35) (109) 144 - -  
 
Other recognised gains/(losses)  
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined 
benefit pension schemes 19 - 1,014 - 1,014 

 
(137) 

             Net movement in funds 266  (5,201) 38,117 33,182 13,435  
 
Reconciliation of funds  
Total funds brought forward  427  (4,245) 30,941 27,123 13,688  
             Total funds carried forward  693  (9,446) 69,058 60,305 27,123  
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SUPPLEMENTARY NOTE:  
COMPARATIVE INFORMATION FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2017 

 

 
__________________________________________________________________________________________  

 Unrestricted Restricted funds: Total  
 Funds General Fixed asset 2017  
 Notes £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  
Income and endowments from:  
Donations and capital grants 3 36 - 37 73  
Donations - transfer from local authority on 
conversion 25 111 

 
(2,785) 16,461 13,787 

 

Charitable activities:  
- Funding for educational operations 4 142 7,862 - 8,004  
- Funding for teaching school 27 - 40 - 40  
Other trading activities 5 15 - - 15  
           Total  304 5,117 16,498 21,919  
           Expenditure on:  
Charitable activities:  
- Educational operations 8 300 7,557 450 8,307  
- Teaching School 27 - 40 - 40  
           Total 6 300 7,597 450 8,347  
           
Net income/(expenditure)  4  (2,480) 16,048 13,572  
 
Transfers between funds 17 -  (73) 73 -  
 
Other recognised gains/(losses)  
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension 
schemes 19 - 

 
(137) - 

 
(137) 

           Net movement in funds 4  (2,690) 16,121 13,435  
 
Reconciliation of funds  
Total funds brought forward  423  (1,555) 14,820 13,688  
           Total funds carried forward  427  (4,245) 30,941 27,123  
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 2018  2017  
 Notes £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  
Fixed assets  
Tangible assets 12  68,780  30,941  
 
Current assets  
Debtors 13 756  369  
Cash at bank and in hand  1,583  1,453  
        2,339  1,822  
Current liabilities  
Creditors: amounts falling due within one 
year 14 

 
(1,440) 

 
(808) 

 

       Net current assets  899  1,014  
       Net assets excluding pension liability  69,679  31,955  
 
Defined benefit pension scheme liability 19  (9,374)  (4,832) 
       Total net assets  60,305  27,123  
 
      Funds of the Academy Trust:  
Restricted funds 17  
- Fixed asset funds  69,058  30,941  
- Restricted income funds  (72)  587  
- Pension reserve  (9,374)  (4,832) 
       Total restricted funds  59,612  26,696  
 
Unrestricted income funds 17  693  427  
       Total funds 60,305  27,123  
 
      
The Financial Statements on pages 23 to 53 were approved by the Trustees and authorised for issue on 12 
December 2018 and are signed on their behalf by: 
 

 

 

I Lewis  
Chair of Trustees  
 Company Number 09642581  
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 2018 2017  
 Notes £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  
 
Cash flows from operating activities  
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating 
activities 20 

 
(355) 

 
568 

 

Cash funds transferred on conversion  259  111  
        (96)  679  
 
Cash flows from investing activities  
Capital grants from DfE Group 83  37  
Capital funding received from sponsors and others 665  -  
Purchase of tangible fixed assets  (522)  (80)  
       Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities 226  (43) 
       Net increase in cash and cash equivalents in the 
reporting period 

 
130 

 
636 

 

 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  1,453  817  
       Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  1,583  1,453  
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1 Accounting policies 
 
 A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applied consistently, except where 

noted), judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty, is set out below. 
  

1.1 Basis of preparation 
 The Financial Statements of the Academy Trust, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have been 

prepared under the historical cost convention in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard Applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of 
Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their Financial Statements in accordance with the 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (Charities SORP (FRS 
102)), the Academies Accounts Direction 2017 to 2018 issued by ESFA, the Charities Act 2011 and the 
Companies Act 2006. 
 
Cirrus Primary Academy Trust meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102. 
  

1.2 Going concern 
 The Trustees assess whether the use of going concern is appropriate, ie whether there are any material 

uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the charitable 
company to continue as a going concern. The Trustees make this assessment in respect of a period of at 
least one year from the date of authorisation for issue of the Financial Statements and have concluded that 
the Academy Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future 
and there are no material uncertainties about the Academy Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the Financial Statements. 
  

1.3 Conversion to an academy trust 
 The conversion from state maintained schools to academies who joined the trust involved the transfer of 

identifiable assets and liabilities and the operation of the school for £nil consideration. The substance of the 
transfer is that of a gift and it has been accounted for on that basis as set out below. 
 
The assets and liabilities transferred on conversion from joiner academies to the academy trust have been 
valued at their fair value. The fair value has been derived based on that of equivalent items. The amounts 
have been recognised under the appropriate balance sheet categories, with a corresponding amount 
recognised in Donations – transfer from local authority on conversion in the Statement of Financial Activities 
and analysed under unrestricted funds, restricted general funds and restricted fixed asset funds.  Further 
details of the transaction are set out in note 25. 
  

1.4 Income 
 All incoming resources are recognised when the Academy Trust has entitlement to the funds, the receipt is 

probable and the amount can be measured reliably. 
  

 Grants 
 Grants are included in the Statement of Financial Activities on a receivable basis. The balance of income 

received for specific purposes but not expended during the period is shown in the relevant funds on the 
balance sheet. Where income is received in advance of meeting any performance-related conditions there is 
not unconditional entitlement to the income and its recognition is deferred and included in creditors as 
deferred income until the performance-related conditions are met. Where entitlement occurs before income is 
received, the income is accrued. 
  

 General Annual Grant is recognised in full in the statement of financial activities in the period for which it is 
receivable, and any abatement in respect of the period is deducted from income and recognised as a liability. 
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1 Accounting policies 
 
 Capital grants are recognised in full when there is an unconditional entitlement to the grant. Unspent amounts 

of capital grants are reflected in the balance sheet in the restricted fixed asset fund. Capital grants are 
recognised when there is entitlement and are not deferred over the life of the asset on which they are 
expended. 
  

 Sponsorship income 
 Sponsorship income provided to the Academy Trust which amounts to a donation is recognised in the 

statement of financial activities in the period in which it is receivable (where there are no performance-related 
conditions), where the receipt is probable and it can be measured reliably. 
  

 Donations 
 Donations are recognised on a receivable basis (where there are no performance-related conditions) where 

the receipt is probable and the amount can be reliably measured. 
  

 Other income 
 Other income, including the hire of facilities, is recognised in the period it is receivable and to the extent the 

Academy Trust has provided the goods or services. 
  

 Donated goods, facilities and services 
 Goods donated for resale are included at fair value, being the expected proceeds from sale less the expected 

costs of sale. If it is practical to assess the fair value at receipt, it is recognised in stock and ‘Income from 
other trading activities’. Upon sale, the value of the stock is charged against ‘Income from other trading 
activities’ and the proceeds are recognised as ‘Income from other trading activities’. Where it is impractical to 
fair value the items due to the volume of low value items they are not recognised in the financial statements 
until they are sold. This income is recognised within ‘Income from other trading activities’. 
 

  Donated fixed assets 
 Donated fixed assets are measured at fair value unless it is impractical to measure this reliably, in which case 

the cost of the item to the donor is used. The gain is recognised as income from donations and a 
corresponding amount is included in the appropriate fixed asset category and depreciated over the useful 
economic life in accordance with the Academy Trust‘s accounting policies. 
  

1.5 Expenditure 
 Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic benefit to a 

third party, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required in settlement, and the amount of 
the obligation can be measured reliably. 
 
Expenditure is classified by activity. The costs of each activity are made up of the total of direct costs and 
shared costs, including support costs involved in undertaking each activity. Direct costs attributable to a 
single activity are allocated directly to that activity. Shared costs which contribute to more than one activity 
and support costs which are not attributable to a single activity are apportioned between those activities on a 
basis consistent with the use of resources. Central staff costs are allocated on the basis of time spent, and 
depreciation charges are allocated on the portion of the asset’s use. 
  

 All resources expended are inclusive of irrecoverable VAT. 
  

 Expenditure on raising funds 
 This includes all expenditure incurred by the Academy Trust to raise funds for its charitable purposes and 

includes costs of all fundraising activities events and non-charitable trading. 
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1 Accounting policies  
 
 Charitable activities  
 These are costs incurred on the Academy Trust's educational operations, including support costs and costs 

relating to the governance of the Academy Trust apportioned to charitable activities. 
 

 

 
 Governance costs  
 These include the costs attributable to the Academy Trust's compliance with constitutional and statutory 

requirements, including audit, strategic management, Trustees' meetings and reimbursed expenses. 
 

 

 
1.6 Tangible fixed assets and depreciation  
 Assets costing £5,000 or more per item (or less if they form part of a larger purchase or project where the 

total cost exceeds £25,000) are capitalised as tangible fixed assets and are carried at cost, net of 
depreciation and any provision for impairment. 
 
Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with the aid of specific grants, either from the government or 
from the private sector, they are included in the Balance Sheet at cost and depreciated over their expected 
useful economic life. Where there are specific conditions attached to the funding that require the continued 
use of the asset, the related grants are credited to a restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial 
Activities and carried forward in the Balance Sheet. Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired / funded 
by other income, the fixed asset fund is also credited.  Depreciation on the relevant assets is charged directly 
to the restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial Activities. 
 

 

 
 Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets other than freehold land, at rates calculated to write off 

the cost of each asset on a straight-line basis over its expected useful life, as follows: 
 

 

 
 Leasehold land & buildings 2% Straight line 
 Freehold land & buildings 2% Straight line 
 Computer equipment 33% Straight line 
 Furniture & Equipment 10% Straight line 
 
 Fixed Asset Transfer from Predecessor School 

 
Where fixed assets were transferred to the charitable company from the predecessor school, these have 
been included at a value determined in accordance with the policy described below: 
 
Land 
 
Where land is owned (or occupied under the terms of a long term lease), subject to a legally binding 
restriction as to its use, it is included at fair value, based on its existing use. 
 
Buildings 
 
In accordance with the requirements of FRS 102, specialist buildings transferred from the predecessor school 
are recognised at their fair value (depreciated replacement cost) at the time of the transfer. Future 
depreciation is charged over the estimated remaining useful life of the buildings.  Subsequent revaluations of 
buildings are accounted for as a revaluation and the revalued amounts are then depreciated over the 
remaining useful lives of the buildings. 
 
Other Fixed Assets 
 
Other assets transferred from the predecessor school are also included at their fair value (depreciated 
replacement cost). 
 

 



 
CIRRUS PRIMARY ACADEMY TRUST 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018 
 
 

 
- 30 - 

1 Accounting policies 
 
 A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying value of any fixed asset may not be recoverable. Shortfalls between the carrying value of fixed 
assets and their recoverable amounts are recognised as impairments. Impairment losses are recognised in 
the Statement of Financial Activities. 
  

1.7 Liabilities 
 Liabilities are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet date as a result of a past event, it 

is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement, and the amount of the settlement 
can be estimated reliably. Liabilities are recognised at the amount that the Academy Trust anticipates it will 
pay to settle the debt or the amount it has received as advanced payments for the goods of services it must 
provide. 
  

1.8 Leased assets 
 Rentals payable under operating leases are charged against income on a straight line basis over the period 

of the lease. 
  

1.9 Financial instruments 
 The Academy Trust only holds basic financial instruments as defined in FRS 102. The financial assets and 

financial liabilities of the Academy Trust and their measurement basis are as follows. 
  

 Financial assets 
 Trade and other debtors are basic financial instruments and are debt instruments measured at amortised 

cost. Prepayments are not financial instruments. 
 
Cash at bank is classified as a basic financial instrument and is measured at face value. 
  

 Financial liabilities 
 Trade creditors, accruals and other creditors are financial instruments, and are measured at amortised cost. 

Taxation and social security are not included in the financial instruments disclosure definition. 
 
Deferred income is not deemed to be a financial liability, as the cash settlement has already taken place and 
there is an obligation to deliver services rather than cash or another financial instrument. 
  

1.10 Taxation 
 The Academy Trust is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 

2010 and therefore it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes. 
Accordingly, the Academy Trust is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains 
received within categories covered by chapter 3 part 11 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of 
the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to 
charitable purposes. 
  

1.11 Pensions benefits 
 Retirement benefits to employees of the Academy Trust are provided by the Teachers' Pension Scheme 

('TPS') and the Local Government Pension Scheme ('LGPS'). These are defined benefit schemes and the 
assets are held separately from those of the Academy Trust. 
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1 Accounting policies 
 
 The TPS is an unfunded scheme and contributions are calculated so as to spread the cost of pensions over 

employees' working lives with the Academy Trust in such a way that the pension cost is a substantially level 
percentage of current and future pensionable payroll. The contributions are determined by the Government 
Actuary on the basis of quadrennial valuations using a prospective unit credit method. The TPS is an 
unfunded multi-employer scheme with no underlying assets to assign between employers. Consequently, the 
TPS is treated as a defined contribution scheme for accounting purposes and the contributions are 
recognised in the period to which they relate. 
  

 The LGPS is a funded multi-employer scheme and the assets are held separately from those of the Academy 
Trust in separate trustee administered funds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and 
liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method and discounted at a rate 
equivalent to the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the 
liabilities. The actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at each balance sheet 
date. The amounts charged to operating surplus are the current service costs and the costs of scheme 
introductions, benefit changes, settlements and curtailments. They are included as part of staff costs as 
incurred. Net interest on the net defined benefit liability/asset is also recognised in the statement of financial 
activities and comprises the interest cost on the defined benefit obligation and interest income on the scheme 
assets, calculated by multiplying the fair value of the scheme assets at the beginning of the period by the rate 
used to discount the benefit obligations. The difference between the interest income on the scheme assets 
and the actual return on the scheme assets is recognised in other recognised gains and losses. 
 

 1.12 Fund accounting 
 Unrestricted income funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting any of the 

charitable objects of the Academy Trust at the discretion of the Trustees. 
  

 Restricted fixed asset funds are resources which are to be applied to specific capital purposes imposed by 
funders where the asset acquired or created is held for a specific purpose. 
  

 Restricted general funds comprise all other restricted funds received with restrictions imposed by the 
funder/donor and include grants from the Department for Education Group. 
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2 Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement 
 
 Accounting estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 

other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
  

 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
 The Academy Trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 

estimates and assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 
  

 The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a number of 
factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The assumptions used in 
determining the net cost or income for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions, 
which are disclosed in note 19, will impact the carrying amount of the pension liability. Furthermore a roll 
forward approach which projects results from the latest full actuarial valuation performed at 31 March 2016 
has been used by the actuary in valuing the pensions liability at 31 August 2018. Any differences between the 
figures derived from the roll forward approach and a full actuarial valuation would impact on the carrying 
amount of the pension liability. 
  

 Critical areas of judgement 
 In preparing these Financial Statements, the Trustees have not needed to exercise any subjective judgements 

that would be critical to the Academy Trust’s Financial Statements. 
  

3 Donations and capital grants  
 Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 
 funds funds 2018 2017 
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
 
 Capital grants - 843 843 37 
 Other donations 22 - 22 36 
           22 843 865 73 
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4 Funding for the Academy Trust's educational operations  
 
 Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 
 funds funds 2018 2017 
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
 DfE / ESFA grants  
 General annual grant (GAG) - 11,336 11,336 5,923 
 Other DfE group grants - 1,296 1,296 541 
           - 12,632 12,632 6,464 
           Other government grants  
 Local authority grants - 1,348 1,348 955 
 
          Other funding  
 Clubs (breakfast and after school) - 279 279 170 
 Consultancy, secondment and courses - 178 178 216 
 Trips and activities - 83 83 45 
 Other incoming resources 231 21 252 154 
           231 561 792 585 
 
         
 Total funding 231 14,541 14,772 8,004 
          
5 Other trading activities  
 Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 
 funds funds 2018 2017 
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
 
 Hire of facilities 39 - 39 7 
 Catering income 5 - 5 8 
           44 - 44 15 
 
         
6 Expenditure  
 Non Pay Expenditure Total Total 
 Staff costs Premises Other 2018 2017 
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
 
 Academy's educational operations  
  - Direct costs 10,277 739 1,051 12,067 6,010 
 - Allocated support costs 2,432 1,131 1,535 5,098 2,297 
 Teaching School  
  - Direct costs 40 - - 40 38 
 - Allocated support costs - - - - 2 
             12,749 1,870 2,586 17,205 8,347 
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6 Expenditure  
 
 Net income/(expenditure) for the year includes:  2018 2017 
 £'000 £'000 
 Fees payable to auditor for:  
 - Audit 12 7 
 - Other services 53 17 
 Operating lease rentals 21 29 
 Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 924 418 
 Net interest on defined benefit pension liability 193 79 
 
     
 Included within expenditure are the following transactions:  
 2018  
  £  
 
 Gifts made by the Academy Trust - total 474  
 
    
 Clarification - While the majority of disclosure in these accounts are rounded to £'000, disclosure of gifts 

made are not.  The value of gifts for the period is £474 (and not £474k). 
 

 

 
7 Central services  
 
 The Academy Trust has provided the following central services to its academies during the year: 

 
• financial leadership; 
• curriculum advice and leadership; 
• legal services; 
• school leadership; 
• economies of scale; 
• financial and health and safety auditing; 
• admissions oversight; 
• attendance advice; 
• data protection/ GDPR Officer. 

 

 
 The Academy Trust charges for these services based upon a percentage of their GAG and the level of central 

support required. 
 
 

 

  The amounts charged during the year were as follows: 2018 2017 
 £'000 £'000 
 
 Rushy Meadow Primary Academy  89 - 
 Stanley Park Infants' School  22 - 
 Wallington Primary Academy  37 - 
 Barrow Hedges Primary School  18 - 
 Kingsley Primary Academy  217 145 
 Avenue Primary Academy  125 136 
       508 281 
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8 Charitable activities  
 Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 
 funds funds 2018 2017 
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
 Direct costs  
 Educational operations 249 11,818 12,067 6,010 
 Teaching School - 40 40 38 
 Support costs  
 Educational operations 6 5,092 5,098 2,297 
 Teaching School - - - 2 
           255 16,950 17,205 8,347 
 
         
 Teaching Educational Total Total 
 Analysis of costs school operations 2018 2017 
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
 Direct costs  
 Teaching and educational support staff costs 40 10,277 10,317 5,067 
 Staff development - 57 57 53 
 Depreciation - 739 739 334 
 Technology costs - 82 82 30 
 Educational supplies and services - 878 878 550 
 Educational consultancy - 15 15 6 
 Other direct costs - 19 19 8 
           40 12,067 12,107 6,048 
 
          Support costs  
 Support staff costs - 1,917 1,917 806 
 Defined benefit pension scheme - staff costs 

(FRS102 adjustment) - 515 515 271 
 Depreciation - 185 185 84 
 Technology costs - 101 101 44 
 Maintenance of premises and equipment - 399 399 94 
 Cleaning - 137 137 75 
 Energy costs - 104 104 68 
 Rent, rates and other occupancy costs - 232 232 104 
 Insurance - 47 47 34 
 Security and transport - 27 27 10 
 Catering - 662 662 400 
 Defined benefit pension scheme - finance costs 

(FRS102 adjustment) - 193 193 79 
 Other support costs - 438 438 124 
 Governance costs - 141 141 106 
           - 5,098 5,098 2,299 
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9 Staff  
 
 Staff costs  
 Staff costs during the year were:  
 2018 2017 
 £'000 £'000 
 
 Wages and salaries 9,209 4,489 
 Social security costs 739 366 
 Pension costs 1,737 787 
 Defined benefit pension scheme - staff costs (FRS102 adjustment) 515 271 
       Staff costs 12,200 5,913 
 Agency staff costs 466 229 
 Staff restructuring costs 83 2 
       Total staff expenditure 12,749 6,144 
 
     
 Staff restructuring costs comprise:  
 
 Redundancy payments 76 - 
 Severance payments 7 2 
       83 2 
 
     
 Non statutory/non-contractual staff severance payments  
 Included in staff restructuring costs are contractual redundancy payments totalling £76k and non-contractual 

severance payments totalling £7k (2017: £2k). 
 

 

 
 Staff numbers  
 The average number of persons employed by the Academy Trust during the year was as follows:  
 2018 2017 
 Number Number 
 
 Teachers  182 99 
 Administration and support  377 149 
 Management  25 7 
       584 255 
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9 Staff  
 
 The number of persons employed, expressed as a full time equivalent, was as follows:  
  2018 2017 
 Number Number 
 
 Teachers  165 92 
 Administration and support  246 90 
 Management  23 7 
       434 189 
      
 Higher paid staff  
 The number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs) exceeded £60,000 

was: 
 

 2018 2017 
 Number Number 
 
 £60,000 - £70,000 3 1 
 £90,001 - £100,000 - 1 
 £100,001 - £110,000 1 - 
      
 Key management personnel  
 The key management personnel of the Academy Trust comprise the Trustees and the senior management 

team as listed on page 1. The total amount of employee benefits (including employer pension contributions 
and employer national insurance contributions) received by key management personnel for their services to 
the Academy Trust was £636,009. 
 

 

 
10 Trustees' remuneration and expenses 
 
 One or more of the Trustees has been paid remuneration or has received other benefits from an employment 

with the Academy Trust.  The CEO and other staff Trustees only receive remuneration in respect of services 
they provide undertaking the roles of CEO and staff members under their contracts of employment, and not in 
respect of their services as Trustees. 
 
The value of Trustees' remuneration and other benefits was as follows: 
  

 Alexander Clark (CEO): 
• Remuneration £105,000 - £110,000 (2017: £95,000 - £100,000) 
• Employer's pension contributions £15,000 - £20,000 (2017: £15,000 - £20,000) 

 
During the year, travel and subsistence payments totalling £1,485 (2017: £935) were reimbursed or paid 
directly to 1 Trustees (2017: 1 Trustee). 
 
Other related party transactions involving the Trustees are set out within the related parties note. 
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11 Trustees and officers insurance 
 
 In accordance with normal commercial practice, the Academy Trust has purchased insurance to protect 

Trustees and officers from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on 
Academy Trust business. The insurance provides cover up to £10,000,000 on any one claim and the cost for 
this cover is not be separately identifiable.  The cost of this insurance is included in the total insurance cost. 
 

 
12 Tangible fixed assets 
 Leasehold 

land & 
buildings 

Freehold 
land & 

buildings 

Computer 
equipment 

Furniture & 
Equipment 

Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
 Cost 
 At 1 September 2017 31,405 - 89 121 31,615 
 Additions 22,194 16,266 203 100 38,763 
             At 31 August 2018 53,599 16,266 292 221 70,378 
             Depreciation 
 At 1 September 2017 576 - 57 41 674 
 Charge for the year 720 114 75 15 924 
             At 31 August 2018 1,296 114 132 56 1,598 
             Net book value 
 At 31 August 2018 52,303 16,152 160 165 68,780 
 
            At 31 August 2017 30,829 - 32 80 30,941 
 
           
 Included within leasehold land and buildings above are land values of £5,601k (Avenue Primary Academy); 

£6,887k (Kingsley Primary Academy); £7,163k (Wallington Primary Academy); £5,825k (Rushy Meadow 
Primary Academy); £2,957k (Stanley Park Infants' School); and £6,654k (Barrow Hedges Primary School). 
  

13 Debtors 2018 2017 
 £'000 £'000 
 
 Trade debtors 69 10 
 VAT recoverable 189 47 
 Other debtors 110 163 
 Prepayments and accrued income 388 149 
       756 369 
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14 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 2018 2017  
 £'000 £'000  
 
 Trade creditors 217 32  
 Other taxation and social security 260 105  
 Other creditors 415 170  
 Accruals and deferred income 548 501  
        1,440 808  
       
15 Deferred income 2018 2017  
 £'000 £'000  
 Deferred income is included within:  
 Creditors due within one year 405 276  
 
      
 Deferred income at 1 September 2017 276 235  
 Released from previous years  (276) (235) 
 Resources deferred in the year 405 276  
        Deferred income at 31 August 2018 405 276  
       
 Deferred income relates to DfE improvement grant £nil (2017: £49k) received in advance to finance costs 

associated with future expansion of the trust; Universal Infant Free School Meals grant (UIFSM) £272k (2017: 
£141k) NCTL balances £nil (2017: £46k), Local Authority High Needs grant £89k (2017: £nil)  and club, trip 
and similar income received in advance from parents of £44k (2017: £40k). 
 

 

 
16 Financial instruments  
 2018 2017  
 £'000 £'000  
 Carrying amount of financial assets  
 Debt instruments measured at amortised cost 1,974 1,721  
 
       Carrying amount of financial liabilities  
 Measured at amortised cost  (775) (427) 
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17 Funds  
 Balance at  Gains, Balance at  
 1 September  losses and 31 August  
 2017 Income Expenditure transfers 2018  
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  
 Restricted general funds  
 General Annual Grant (GAG) 587 11,336  (11,886) (109) (72) 
 Other DfE / ESFA grants - 433  (433) - -  
 Pupil Premium - 863  (863) - -  
 Other government grants - 1,348  (1,348) - -  
 Teaching School - 40  (40) - -  
 Other restricted funds - 561  (561) - -  
 Pension reserve  (4,832) (4,848) (708) 1,014  (9,374) 
              (4,245) 9,733  (15,839) 905  (9,446) 
 
             Restricted fixed asset funds  
 Transfer on conversion 29,501 38,241  (840) - 66,902  
 DfE group capital grants 1,030 843  (240) 77 1,710  
 Capital expenditure from GAG 

and other funds 410 - 
 

(31) 67 446 
 

              30,941 39,084  (1,111) 144 69,058  
 
            
 Total restricted funds 26,696 48,817  (16,950) 1,049 59,612  
 
            
 Unrestricted funds  
 General funds 427 556  (255) (35) 693  
 
            
 Total funds 27,123 49,373  (17,205) 1,014 60,305  
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17 Funds 
 
 The specific purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows: 

 
The Restricted General Funds are used to fund the general operating costs of the Academy. 
 
Under the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, the Academy Trust was not subject to a limit on the 
amount of GAG that it could carry forward at 31 August 2018. The GAG fund was in deficit at 31 August 
2018. The financial deficit was primarily in Rushy Meadow Primary Academy and Barrow Hedges Primary 
School for 2017/2018. A reduced deficit budget has been set for 2018/2019. The Trust was aware of these 
difficulties and these have stemmed from historical staffing and resource management issues. Over the first 
six months of 2018/2019 there will be reviews of Educational Support and Senior Management roles. Both 
these reviews will look at reducing the costs of these elements whilst maintaining and improving standards. 
The Trust as a whole is looking at the centralisation of various support functions which will also reduce costs 
Trust wide and at school level.  All contracts are being reviewed when finishing and Trust wide deals and 
contracts are being pursued to take advantage of economies of scale which should financially benefit all 
schools. 
 
The Restricted LGPS Fund represents the Academy Trust's share of the LGPS Pension Fund deficit. 
 
The Restricted Fixed Asset Fund represents the net book value of fixed assets £68,780k (2017: £30,941k) 
plus the unspent element of capital grants of £278k (2017: £nil). When fixed assets are purchased the fund is 
increased and depreciation charges reduce the fund. 
 
Unrestricted Funds represent balances held at period end that can be applied at the discretion of the 
Trustees, to support any of the Academy Trust's charitable purposes. 
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17 Funds  
 
 Comparative information in respect of the preceding period is as follows:  
 
 Balance at  Gains, Balance at  
 1 September  losses and 31 August  
 2016 Income Expenditure transfers 2017  
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  
 Restricted general funds  
 General Annual Grant (GAG) - 5,923  (5,263) (73) 587  
 Other DfE / ESFA grants 5 215  (220) - -  
 Pupil Premium - 326  (326) - -  
 Other government grants - 955  (955) - -  
 Teaching School - 40  (40) - -  
 Other restricted funds - 443  (443) - -  
 Pension reserve  (1,560) (2,785) (350) (137) (4,832) 
              (1,555) 5,117  (7,597) (210) (4,245) 
 
             Restricted fixed asset funds  
  Transfer on conversion 13,408 16,461  (368) - 29,501  
 DfE group capital grants 1,063 37  (70) - 1,030  
 Capital expenditure from GAG 

and other funds 349 - 
 

(12) 73 410 
 

              14,820 16,498  (450) 73 30,941  
 
            
 Total restricted funds 13,265 21,615  (8,047) (137) 26,696  
 
            
 Unrestricted funds  
 General funds 423 304  (300) - 427  
 
            
 Total funds 13,688 21,919  (8,347) (137) 27,123  
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17 Funds  
 
 A current year 12 months and prior year 12 months combined position is as follows:  
 
 Balance at  Gains, Balance at  
 1 September  losses and 31 August  
 2016 Income Expenditure transfers 2018  
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  
 Restricted general funds  
 General Annual Grant (GAG) - 17,259  (17,149) (182) (72) 
 Other DfE / ESFA grants 5 648  (653) - -  
 Pupil Premium - 1,189  (1,189) - -  
 Other government grants - 2,303  (2,303) - -  
 Teaching School - 80  (80) - -  
 Other restricted funds - 1,004  (1,004) - -  
 Pension reserve  (1,560) (7,633) (1,058) 877  (9,374) 
              (1,555) 14,850  (23,436) 695  (9,446) 
 
             Restricted fixed asset funds  
  Transfer on conversion 13,408 54,702  (1,208) - 66,902  
 DfE group capital grants 1,063 880  (310) 77 1,710  
 Capital expenditure from GAG 

and other funds 349 - 
 

(43) 140 446 
 

              14,820 55,582  (1,561) 217 69,058  
 
            
 Total restricted funds 13,265 70,432  (24,997) 912 59,612  
 
            
 Unrestricted funds  
 General funds 423 860  (555) (35) 693  
 
            
 Total funds 13,688 71,292  (25,552) 877 60,305  
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17 Funds  
 
 Total funds analysis by academy  
 2018 2017  
  Fund balances at 31 August 2018 were allocated as follows: £'000 £'000  
 
 Rushy Meadow Primary Academy  (230) -  
 Stanley Park Infants' School  63 -  
 Wallington Primary Academy  83 -  
 Barrow Hedges Primary School  (18) -  
 Kingsley Primary Academy  1 280  
 Avenue Primary Academy  770 651  
 Central services  (48) 83  
        Total before fixed assets fund and pension reserve 621 1,014  
 
 Restricted fixed asset fund  69,058 30,941  
 Pension reserve  (9,374) (4,832) 
        Total funds 60,305 27,123  
 
      
 Total cost analysis by academy  
 
 Expenditure incurred by each academy during the year was as follows:  
 
 Teaching and 

educational 
support staff 

Other support 
staff costs 

Educational 
supplies 

Other costs 
excluding 

depreciation 
Total  

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  
 
 Rushy Meadow Primary Academy 1,720 327 101 319 2,467  
 Stanley Park Infants' School 615 269 41 159 1,084  
 Wallington Primary Academy 656 213 26 147 1,042  
 Barrow Hedges Primary School 491 94 25 153 763  
 Kingsley Primary Academy 3,288 756 590 577 5,211  
 Avenue Primary Academy 3,113 616 242 844 4,815  
 Central services 434 157 26 282 899  
              10,317 2,432 1,051 2,481 16,281  
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18 Analysis of net assets between funds  
 Unrestricted Restricted funds: Total  
 Funds General Fixed asset Funds  
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  
 Fund balances at 31 August 2018 are 

represented by: 
 

 Tangible fixed assets - - 68,780 68,780  
 Current assets 693 1,368 278 2,339  
 Creditors falling due within one year -  (1,440) -  (1,440) 
 Defined benefit pension liability -  (9,374) -  (9,374) 
            Total net assets 693  (9,446) 69,058 60,305  
 
          
 Unrestricted Restricted funds: Total  
 Funds General Fixed asset Funds  
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  
 Fund balances at 31 August 2017 are 

represented by: 
 

 Tangible fixed assets - - 30,941 30,941  
 Current assets 427 1,395 - 1,822  
 Creditors falling due within one year -  (808) -  (808) 
 Defined benefit pension liability -  (4,832) -  (4,832) 
            Total net assets 427  (4,245) 30,941 27,123  
 
          
19 Pension and similar obligations  
 
 The Academy Trust's employees belong to two principal pension schemes: the Teachers' Pension Scheme 

England and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff; and the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) for non-teaching staff, which is managed by the London Borough of Sutton and Croydon Council. 
Both are multi-employer defined benefit schemes. 
 
The pension costs are assessed in accordance with the advice of independent qualified actuaries. The latest 
actuarial valuation of the TPS related to the period ended 31 March 2012, and that of the LGPS related to the 
period ended 31 March 2016. 
 

 

 
 Contributions amounting to £220k (2017: £118k) were payable to the schemes at 31 August 2018 and are 

included within creditors. 
 

 

 
 Teachers' Pension Scheme  
 
 Introduction  
 The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed by the 

Teachers’ Pension Scheme Regulations 2014. Membership is automatic for full-time teachers in academies 
and, from 1 January 2007, automatic for teachers in part-time employment following appointment or a change 
of contract, although they are able to opt out. 
 

 

 
 The TPS is an unfunded scheme and members contribute on a 'pay as you go' basis - these contributions 

along with those made by employers are credited to the Exchequer. Retirement and other pension benefits 
are paid by public funds provided by Parliament. 
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19 Pension and similar obligations 
 
 Valuation of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme 
 The Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial review of the TPS in 

accordance with the Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014 published 
by HM Treasury. The aim of the review is to specify the level of future contributions. Actuarial scheme 
valuations are dependent on assumptions about the value of future costs, design of benefits and many other 
factors. The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2012 and in accordance with 
the Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014. The valuation report was 
published by the Department for Education on 9 June 2014. 
  

 The key elements of the valuation and subsequent consultation are: 
• employer contribution rates set at 16.48% of pensionable pay (including a 0.08% employer 

administration charge 
• total scheme liabilities (pensions currently in payment and the estimated cost of future benefits) for 

service to the effective date of £191,500 million, and notional assets (estimated future contributions 
together with the notional investments held at the valuation date) of £176,600 million giving a notional 
past service deficit of £14,900 million 

• an employer cost cap of 10.9% of pensionable pay will be applied to future valuations 
• the assumed real rate of return is 3.0% in excess of prices and 2% in excess of earnings. The rate of 

real earnings growth is assumed to be 2.75%. The assumed nominal rate of return is 5.06%  
 The TPS valuation for 2012 determined an employer rate of 16.4%, which was payable from September 2015. 

The next valuation of the TPS is currently underway based on April 2016 data, whereupon the employer 
contribution rate is expected to be reassessed and will be payable from 1 April 2019. 
  

 The employer's pension costs paid to the TPS in the period amounted to £905k (2017: £467k). 
  

 A copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation is on the Teachers’ Pensions website. 
  

 Under the definitions set out in FRS 102, the TPS is an unfunded multi-employer pension scheme. The 
Academy Trust has accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. 
The Academy Trust has set out above the information available on the scheme. 
  

 Local Government Pension Scheme  
 
 The LGPS is a funded defined-benefit pension scheme, with the assets held in separate trustee-administered 

funds. The total contributions are as noted below. The agreed contribution rates for future years are 26.5% to 
27.5% for employers and 5.5% to 8.5% for employees. 
 

 

 
 The LGPS obligation relates to the employees of the Academy Trust who were employees transferred as part 

of the conversion from the maintained school (as described in note 25) together with new employees who 
joined the scheme in the period. The obligation in respect of employees who transferred on conversion 
represents their cumulative service at both the predecessor school and the Academy Trust at the balance 
sheet date. 
 

 

 
 Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, to a guarantee that, in the 

event of academy closure, outstanding Local Government Pension Scheme liabilities would be met by the 
Department for Education. The guarantee came into force on 18 July 2013. 
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19 Pension and similar obligations  
 
 Total contributions made  2018 2017  
 £'000 £'000  
 
 Employer's contributions  832 320  
 Employees' contributions  185 85  
        Total contributions  1,017 405  
 
      
 Principal actuarial assumptions 2018 2017  
 % %  
 
 Rate of increase in salaries 2.90 to 3.80 3.30  
 Rate of increase for pensions in payment/inflation 2.30 to 2.40 2.55  
 Discount rate for scheme liabilities 2.65 to 2.80 2.55  
 
      
 The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates.  The 

assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are: 
 

 2018 2017  
 Years Years  
 Retiring today  
  - Males 24.19 23.35  
 - Females 25.86 25.20  
 Retiring in 20 years  
  - Males 26.40 25.35  
 - Females 28.17 27.25  
 
      
 Scheme liabilities would increase to the following amounts if assumptions were to change: 

 
 

 
 2018 2017  
 £'000 £'000  
 Discount rate - 0.1%  14,275 5,831  
 Salary rate + 0.1%  13,964 5,717  
 Pensions rate + 0.1%  14,223 5,801  
       
 Defined benefit pension scheme net liability  
 
 Scheme assets  4,537 858  
 Scheme obligations  (13,911) (5,690) 
        Net liability  (9,374) (4,832) 
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19 Pension and similar obligations  
 
 The Academy Trust's share of the assets in the scheme 2018 2017  
 Fair value Fair value  
 £'000 £'000  
 
 Equities 3,098 571  
 Gilts 501 56  
 Other bonds 468 138  
 Cash 67 -  
 Property 403 81  
 Other assets - 12  
        Total market value of assets 4,537 858  
 
      
 The actual return on scheme assets was £133,000 (2017: £64,000).  
 
 Amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities 2018 2017  
 £'000 £'000  
 
 Current service cost 1,347 591  
 Interest income  (70) (12) 
 Interest cost 263 91  
        Total operating charge 1,540 670  
 
      
 Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations 2018  
 £'000  
 
 At 1 September 2017 5,690  
 Obligations acquired on conversion 7,431  
 Current service cost 1,347  
 Interest cost 263  
 Employee contributions 185  
 Actuarial (gain)/loss  (951) 
 Benefits paid  (54) 
      At 31 August 2018 13,911  
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19 Pension and similar obligations  
 
 Changes in the fair value of the Academy Trust's share of scheme assets  
  2018  
 £'000  
 
 At 1 September 2017 858  
 Assets acquired on conversion 2,583  
 Interest income 70  
 Actuarial gain 63  
 Employer contributions 832  
 Employee contributions 185  
 Benefits paid  (54) 
      At 31 August 2018 4,537  
 
    
20 Reconciliation of net income to net cash flow from operating activities  
 2018 2017  
 £'000 £'000  
 
 Net income for the reporting period (as per the Statement of Financial 

Activities) 32,168 13,572 
 

 
 Adjusted for:  
 Net surplus on conversion to academy  (33,652) (13,787) 
 Capital grants from DfE/ESFA and other capital income  (843) (37) 
 Defined benefit pension costs less contributions payable 515 271  
 Defined benefit pension net finance cost 193 79  
 Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 924 418  
 (Increase) in debtors  (292) (317) 
 Increase in creditors 632 369  
        Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities  (355) 568  
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21 Commitments under operating leases  
 
 At 31 August 2018 the total of the Academy Trust's future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 

operating leases was: 
 

 
 2018 2017 
 £'000 £'000 
 
 Amounts due within one year 28 45 
 Amounts due in two and five years 44 50 
       72 95 
 
     
 Additional to the above operating leases, Wallington Primary Academy had a finance lease while under Local 

Authority control. This lease has not yet been formally assigned to the Trust. The lease is for a Biomass 
Boiler.  It is dated 3 December 2012 and is a 20 year lease with annual repayments of £23,580. 
 

 

 
22 Capital commitments  
 2018 2017 
 £'000 £'000 
 
 Expenditure contracted for but not provided in the Financial Statements 473 21 
 
     
 Year Ended 31 August 2018 

 
During the year the Academy Trust was committed to ASD Base Expansion project to build two modular 
classrooms costing £871k at Avenue Primary Academy. The project is to be funded from Local Authority 
grant of £671k and £200k from the academy's reserves. The costs incurred as at 31 August 2018 were 
£398k, leaving anticipated future costs of £473k. 
 
Year Ended 31 August 2017 
 
The Academy Trust was undergoing an office renovation project with total estimated costs of £28k of which 
£7k was incurred by 31 August 2017.  Anticipated future costs of the project were £21k which was funded 
from Capital Grant. 
 

 

 
23 Related party transactions 
 
 Owing to the nature of the Academy Trust's operations and the composition of the Board of Trustees being 

drawn from local public and private sector organisations, transactions may take place with organisations in 
which the Academy Trust has an interest. All transactions involving such organisations are conducted at arm's 
length and in accordance with the Academy Trust's financial regulations and normal procurement procedures. 
The following related party transaction took place in the period of account. 
 
Hackbridge Primary School ("the school") is a related party by virtue of the fact that C Cook, a Trustee of 
Cirrus Primary Academy Trust, is also the Chair of Governors of the school.  The Trust received £796 from 
the school and paid £190 for purchases from it. No balances were outstanding at the year end. 
 
In entering into these transactions, the Academy Trust has complied with the requirements of the Academies 
Financial Handbook 2017. 
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24 Members' liability  
 
 Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the event of 

it being wound up while he or she is a member, or within one year after he or she ceases to be a member, 
such amount as may be required, not exceeding £10 for the debts and liabilities contracted before he or she 
ceases to be a member. 
 

 

 
25 Conversion to an academy  
 
 On the dates specified below, four local schools converted to academy trust status under the Academies Act 

2010 and all the operations and assets and liabilities were transferred to Cirrus Primary Academy Trust from 
the London Borough of Sutton Local Authority for £nil consideration. 
 
The transfer has been accounted for as a combination that is in substance a gift. The assets and liabilities 
transferred were valued at their fair values and recognised in the balance sheet under the appropriate 
headings with a corresponding net amount recognised as a net gain in the statement of financial activities as 
donations – transfer from local authority on conversion. 
 
The following table sets out the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities transferred and an analysis 
of their recognition in the statement of financial activities. 
 

 

 
 Academy Location Date of conversion  
 Rushy Meadow Primary Academy Sutton 1 September 2017  
 Stanley Park Infants' School Sutton 1 January 2018  
 Wallington Primary Academy Sutton 1 April 2018  
 Barrow Hedges Primary School Sutton 1 June 2018  
 

 2018  
 Net assets transferred: £'000  
 
 Freehold land and buildings 16,266  
 Leasehold land and buildings 21,775  
 Other tangible fixed assets 200  
 Cash 259  
 LGPS pension surplus/(deficit)  (4,848) 
      33,652  
 
    
 Unrestricted Restricted funds: Total  
 Funds General Fixed asset 2018  
 Funds surplus/(deficit) transferred: £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  
 
 Fixed assets funds - - 38,241 38,241  
 LA budget funds 259 - - 259  
 LGPS pension funds -  (4,848) -  (4,848) 
            259  (4,848) 38,241 33,652  
          



 
CIRRUS PRIMARY ACADEMY TRUST 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018 
 
 

 
- 52 - 

25 Conversion to an academy  
 
 Amounts inherited above are analysed between the four academies as follows: 

 
Rushy Meadow Primary Academy 
Land & buildings - £10,314k 
Other fixed assets - £50k 
Cash - £56k 
LGPS deficit - £(1,365)k 
 
Stanley Park Infants' School 
Land & buildings - £4,494k 
Other fixed assets - £50k 
Cash - £98k 
LGPS deficit - £(892)k 
 
Wallington Primary Academy 
Land & buildings - £11,772k 
Other fixed assets - £50k 
Cash - £90k 
LGPS deficit - £(1,729)k 
 
Barrow Hedges Primary School 
Land & buildings  - £11,461k 
Other fixed assets - £50k 
Cash - £15k 
LGPS deficit - £(857)k 
 

 

 
26 Going Concern 
 
 During the year under review, the Trust's reserves reduced from £1,014k to £621k. 

 
The deficit was primarily in Rushy Meadow Primary Academy and Barrow Hedges Primary School. A reduced 
deficit budget has been set for 2018/2019. The Trust was aware of these difficulties and these have stemmed 
from historical staffing and resource management issues. Over the first six months of 2018/2019 there will be 
reviews of Educational Support and Senior Management roles. 
 
Both these reviews will look at reducing the costs of these elements whilst maintaining and improving 
standards. The Trust as a whole is looking at the centralisation of various support functions which will also 
reduce costs Trust wide and at school level.  All contracts are being reviewed when finishing and Trust wide 
deals and contracts are being pursued to take advantage of economies of scale which should financially 
benefit all schools. 
 
The Trust expects a surplus in 2019/2020 and 2020/2021.  This reflects the ongoing commitment to and 
investment in school improvement and the effect of "lagged" funding in a period of increasing pupil numbers.  
The Trustees are confident that the Trust has sufficient reserves and cash flows to ensure that it can continue 
to operate for the foreseeable future. 
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27 Teaching School trading account 2018 2017  
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  
 Direct income  
  Other external funding  40  40  
 

 Direct costs  
 Direct staff costs 40  34  
 Staff development -  4  
        40  38  
 
       Other costs  
 Support staff costs -  2  
        Total expenditure  (40)  (40) 
        Surplus/(deficit) from all sources -  -  
 
 Teaching School balances at 1 September 2017 -  -  
        Teaching School balances at 31 August 2018 -  -  
 
      
 


